1953

# Securities Credit Corporation v. Marion Willey : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal is from a Judgment on the merits rendered by the District Court of Davis County, State of Utah, in favor of the Defendant, Marion Willey, doing business as Marion Willey and Sons (Respondent herein) and against Securities Credit Corporation, a corporation, Plaintiff, (Appellant herein). Plaintiff will hereinafter be referred to as Appellant, and Defendant will hereinafter be referred to as Respondent.

Appellant commenced this action for claim and delivery by filing in the lower court, a Complaint, which followed in substantial detail the form set out in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, adopted by this court, (Form 16) wherein it was alleged:

- "1. Plaintiff is the owner and entitled to the possession of the following described personal property located in Bountiful, Utah: A 1952 Mercury four-door sedan, Motor No. 52LA-27, 188-M.
- "2. Said property is now in the possession of the Defendant who is wrongfully withholding the same from the Plaintiff.
- "3. Plaintiff has heretofore made demand upon the Defendant for the return of said property but Defendant has wrongfully refused, and now refuses to return the same.
- "4. That by reason of said wrongful detention, Plaintiff has been damaged in the sum of \$500.00." (R. 1)

Appellant prayed judgment for the return of the 1952 Mercury automobile, and if return of the same could not be had for its reasonable value, for the sum of \$500.00 damage, and for costs of suit. Summons was duly served and returned by the sheriff. (R. 27)

With the Complaint, was filed an Affidavit of Replevin, signed by John Rademacher, Branch Manager of the Plaintiff Corporation, wherein it is stated that the Plaintiff is the owner and entitled to possession of said 1952 Mercury automobile; that "the property is wrongfully detained by the Defendant; that the cause of the detention is unknown to this Affiant, except that Affiant is informed and believes and therefore alleges, that the Defendant claims to have purchased said property from one Edward S. Barrett, but Affiant further alleges that said Edward S. Barrett does not have the title nor right to possession to said automobile." (R. 19)

Based upon the Complaint and Affidavit so filed, a Writ of Replevin was issued out of the court below, upon which the sheriff of Davis County, after attempting to obtain said vehicle, made the following return:

“Demand was made upon the within named defendant for a certain 1952 Mercury, four-door sedan, Motor Number 52LA-27, 188-M; however, defendant refused to give the information as to the location of the automobile, therefore, we were unable to take said property heretofore described into possession. We are returning said Writ of Replevin unsatisfied..” (R. 27)

Thereafter, Respondent filed a re-delivery bond in connection with the Writ of Replevin, making it unnecessary for the sheriff physically to take possession of said vehicle.

Respondent, in his Answer, denied Appellant’s allegation of ownership of the said 1952 Mercury automobile and alleged ownership in himself. (R 2) As a further defense, he alleged that he purchased the automobile from one Ed Barrett of Pocatello, Idaho. Under the provision of Rules 7 (a) and 8 (d) the matters set out in Respondent’s Answer are deemed denied and, therefore, an issue of fact was presented for trial.

A Counterclaim was also filed in which Respondent admitted that no certificate of title was delivered to him by the said Ed Barrett.

Paragraph 3 of the Counterclaim, alleges that the sale of the automobile by Barrett to the Respondent was with the full knowledge and consent of the Respondent.

Paragraph 4, alleged that by the provisions of the laws of the State of Utah and Idaho, that Appellant has

no right, title or interest in said automobile, or claim against Respondent.

Paragraph 5, alleged that Respondent is entitled to a decree quieting title in Respondent. (R. 3)

Other allegations pertaining to the alleged sale of other automobiles by the said Ed Barrett which are not material to the issues involved herein, were also included in paragraph 2 of the Counterclaim. (R. 3)

Appellant filed a Reply to the Counterclaim, denying the foregoing allegations of paragraphs 3, 4, and 5. (R. 5) By so doing, all the affirmative matter set out in Respondent's Answer and Counterclaim was denied, leaving the facts to be determined upon trial of the issues.

Prior to the date fixed for trial of the issues, Respondent prepared and served upon counsel for Appellant, written interrogatories to be answered by the latter, which interrogatories were thereafter answered and filed with the court below. (R. 20-24) (The interrogations and answers were not designated by Appellant in connection with this appeal, for the reason that the same were considered immaterial and irrelevant to the issues involved herein, as will be more fully outlined in Appellant's argument. However, Respondent filed a counter designation requesting said interrogatories and answers to be included in the record, which was done.)

Subsequently, Respondent's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was argued by counsel and taken under advisement by the lower court. The court, in connection with the matter, rendered a memorandum decision in which the court, without specifying any reasons, granted said Motion and directed counsel for Respondent to prepare findings, judgment and decree as prayed for in said Motion. (R. 7)



Immediately, counsel for Appellant filed a Motion for Re-hearing setting out that Plaintiff's Complaint had followed the form outlined in the Rules of Civil Procedure (Form 16), and called to the trial court's attention that under Rule 84, such forms are "sufficient under the rules," so that a motion to dismiss or for a judgment on the pleadings could not have been granted on such a Complaint. In the alternative, such Motion for Re-hearing further stated that if the court desired to treat the Motion as one for summary judgment, then counsel should be given an opportunity to file counter-affidavits and submit evidence in contradiction of or in further explanation of the interrogatories which the Defendant, Willey, had filed in the case. (R. 8-11)

This Motion was also taken under advisement by the court and subsequently denied. Thereafter, the court made and entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in accordance with the allegations of Defendant's Counterclaim—even though the allegations of such Counterclaim were denied by Appellant in its Reply and even though, as will hereinafter appear, such allegations are not consistent with the facts.

It is from that decision and the judgment of the trial court entered thereon, that this appeal is taken.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

For the purpose of argument, Appellant has grouped under two points, the claimed error of the trial court in connection with its determination below:

- I. *The Trial Court Erred in Granting Respondent's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.*
- II. *There is no Evidence or Facts in the Record Suf-*



*ficient to Sustain the Findings, Conclusions and Judgment Rendered by the Trial Court.*

## ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS.

### I

The Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings filed by the Respondent in this matter, is very brief. It requests the court to "render judgment in favor of the Defendant on the pleadings under provisions of Rule 12 (c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, for the reasons that: a. It appears from the pleadings that the Defendant is entitled to judgment dismissing the Complaint and as prayed for in the Counterclaim. b. The pleadings in this cause are closed. c. The trial of this cause has been set for April 9, 1953, and a hearing on this Motion will not delay trial of the cause if trial becomes necessary."

Since Respondent specifies that his Motion is made pursuant to the provisions of Rule 12 (c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, it might be well for us at this time to quote the provisions of this rule. As adopted verbatim from the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the rule provides:

"Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. After the pleadings are closed but within such time as not to delay the trial, any party may move for judgment on the pleadings. If on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and

all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.”

Inasmuch as the rule provides that this motion is available *after the pleadings are closed*, we might look to the provisions of Rule 7 (a), to determine what *pleadings* are necessary and what constitutes the pleadings in a case to determine when the same are closed—the Respondent, in this case, having claimed that the pleadings were closed at the time of the filing of his Motion. Rule 7 (a), provides that there shall be a complaint, an answer and a reply to a counterclaim denominated as such. Therefore, in this case, the pleadings were closed when the Appellant filed its Reply to Respondent’s Counterclaim. Confirming this view of the matter is Moore on Federal Practice, 2nd Edition, Vol. 2, Section 12.15, where we find the following statement:

“If a counterclaim (denominated as such) or a cross-claim is pleaded, or if the court orders a reply, the pleadings are not closed until the reply (or answer to a cross-claim) is served.

“After the pleadings are closed a motion for judgment thereon may be made by any party. The only qualification is that it be not made so that its disposition would delay the trial.”

Thus, under the foregoing provisions, the Respondent was entitled to file a motion for a judgment on the pleadings and explain why Respondent alleged in his Motion, that the pleadings were closed and that such Motion would not delay the trial of the cause.

The Supreme Court might well wonder why mention of this matter is made by Appellant in this Brief. The

reason is that Respondent claimed in the lower court, and will undoubtedly claim in the Supreme Court, that the interrogatories and answers to interrogatories, which were on file at the time the Motion for Judgment was made by him, were a part of the pleadings and should be considered with them. However, this is obviously not so under the Rules, particularly since Appellant was entitled to have Respondent answer interrogatories and if the pleadings were not closed until such time as all opportunity had passed for interrogatories to be submitted and answers thereto filed, it would be impossible to make a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings under this rule.

The basis for determining the merits of a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, is well outlined in Moore's Federal Practice, 2nd Edition, Vol. 2, Section 12.15 at page 2269 as follows:

“ . . . a motion for judgment on the pleadings must be sustained by the undisputed facts appearing in all the pleadings, supplemented by any facts of which the court will take judicial notice. For the purposes of the motion, all well-pleaded material allegations of the opposing party's pleading are to be taken as true, and all allegations of the moving party which have been denied are taken as false. Conclusions of law are not deemed admitted. Judgment on the pleadings may be granted only if, on the facts as so admitted, the moving party is clearly entitled to judgment. Hence, a defendant may not obtain a judgment on the pleadings on the basis of the allegations in his answer where no reply is required, since under Rule 8 (d) these allegations are deemed denied; nor may defendant move on the basis of an insufficient denial of the allegations of his answer in plaintiff's reply, where the reply was

not required or ordered by the court. Plaintiff may not move for judgment on the pleadings where the answer raises issues of fact which if proved would defeat recovery.”

Since the adoption of the original rule by the Supreme Court of the United States, an amendment was added (which is now included not only in the Federal Rules, but in our own Rules) to the effect that if additional matter is presented to the court for consideration and not excluded by the court, the “motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56.” But under such circumstances, the Rule goes on to state that all parties “shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.” Appellant, therefore, contends that the trial court in the instant matter, was not entitled to consider anything but the formal pleadings in the case unless and until it gave Appellant reasonable opportunity to submit additional matter to the court in the form of affidavits or other evidence which, if presented, would affect the ultimate decision in the case. This, in fact, was the essence of Appellant’s Motion for Re-hearing in the trial court, wherein Appellant stated the various facts which it had available to present to the court in support of its Complaint and the position taken therein.

In the absence of any explanation by the court in its memorandum decision as to the basis of its decision granting the motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, it is most difficult for Appellant to find any apparent explanation of the court’s ruling upon which to make its argument that such motion was improperly granted. Under the Rules, the motion in effect admits the allegations of Plain-

tiff's Complaint with respect to ownership of the automobile by Plaintiff and wrongful detention by Defendant. On the other hand, the allegations of Respondent in his Counterclaim or Answer to the effect that he owned the automobile or had purchased it from one Ed Barrett, are denied specifically or deemed denied under the provisions of Rule 8 (d) so that for the purpose of the motion, such matters are deemed to be false.

In the case of Art Metal Construction Company vs. Lehigh Structural Steel Company, (C. C. A. 3rd) 116 Fed. 2d 57, the plaintiff commenced an action against the Lehigh Structural Steel Company to recover an alleged balance owing under a construction contract. The defendant, after the pleadings were in, filed a motion for a judgment on the pleadings which was granted. On appeal, the Circuit Court reversed the lower court and made the following statement concerning the effect of a motion for summary judgment:

"This is an appeal from a judgment entered upon the pleadings on the motion by the defendant, Rule 12c, Rules of Civil Procedure, 28 U. S. C. A., following section 723c. In considering such a motion the facts alleged by the plaintiff must be taken to be true, and the inquire is whether upon those facts, plaintiff has stated a cause of action."

In the case of Wyman vs. Wyman (C. C. A. 9th) 109 Fed. 2d 473, 474, the plaintiff brought an action in the District Court of the United States for the District of Nevada to obtain a judgment for accrued alimony alleged to be payable under a decree rendered in New York. Following the filing of the pleadings, defendant made a motion for judgment on the pleadings which was granted by the



trial court. On appeal, the Circuit Court made the following statement:

“In *Phenix vs. Bijelich*, 30 Nev. 257, 269, 95 P. 351, 353, it is said: ‘When a party moves for judgment on the pleadings, he not only for the purpose of his motion admits the truth of all the allegations of his adversary, but must also be deemed to have admitted the untruth of all his own allegations which have been denied by his adversary.’

“A motion for judgment on the pleadings is permitted by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 12 (c), 28 U. S. C. A. following section 723c. “In his first affirmative defense in his answer to the complaint filed herein, the appellee alleged that on or about October 25, 1932, he became a bona fide resident of the State of Nevada, and ever since said date he had been a resident of and domiciled in said state. The appellant denied this allegation by her ‘Amended Reply to Answer.’ Under the rule of the *Phenix* case, *supra*, we must for the purposes of the motion consider the allegation made by the appellee that he became a resident of and was domiciled in Nevada as untrue. This being so, the court below erred in granting his motion, for, if that allegation were untrue, the Nevada court would not have jurisdiction to entertain the suit for divorce.”

The following analysis of a motion for judgment on the pleadings was made by the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in the case of *Friedman vs. Washburn Co.*, 145 Fed. 2d 715:

“After pre-trial conference and the filing of a stipulation of facts, appellee filed its motion for judgment on the pleadings, setting up various grounds therefor, raising both factual and legal issues: Con-

travention of the patent laws; absence of power in the Federal Court to grant the relief prayed; negligence and inexcusable delay showing on the face of the complaint; estoppel; lack of elements of a confidential disclosure action. Appellee also asserted that the action did not fall within the provisions of the Declaratory Judgment Act.

"Rule 12 (c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 28 U. S. C. A. following section 723c under the authority of which appellee filed its motion, provides: 'After the pleadings are closed but within such time as not to delay the trial, any party may move for judgment on the pleadings.' This motion, of course, deals only with questions of law arising on the pleadings, and in considering it, all facts alleged by the plaintiff must be taken to be true, the question being whether upon those facts the plaintiff has stated a cause of action. *Art Metal Construction Co. vs. Lehigh Structural Co.*, 3 Cir., 116 F. 2d 57. In *Ulen Contracting Corp. vs. Tri-County Electric Co-op.*, 1 F. R. D. 284, 285, the court said: 'Judgment is proper on the motion only where no material issue of fact is presented by the pleadings. \* \* \* *'Such a judgment is allowable not for lack of proof, but for lack of an issue; hence, it is proper where the pleadings entitle the party to recover without proof, as where they disclose all the facts or where the pleadings present no issue of fact or an immaterial issue.'*" (Italics added.)

The court in the Friedman Case went on to say, after analyzing the matter, that, "It is obvious from our study of the complaint and answer that many facts were in dispute and that such dispute could not be resolved by a simple study of those pleadings without more."

It is appellant's position in the instant matter that many facts are in dispute and that such dispute can only



be resolved through evidence at the trial, unless respondent is willing to concede the facts claimed by appellant—in which event appellant rather than respondent would be entitled to judgment. Certainly, under the law above cited, the lower court improperly granted Respondent's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.

See also *Jay vs. Chicago Bridge and Iron Co.*, (C.C.A. 10th) 150 Fed, 2d 247 (a case arising from the Federal District Court for the District of Utah). There, the Circuit Court of Appeals made the following statement:

“The motion for judgment on the pleadings, or in the alternative for dismissal of the action, admitted all matters well pleaded in the complaint. That rule is too well established to warrant extended discussion.”

On the other hand, Respondent will probably contend, as he did in the lower court, that the entire file, including Appellant's answers to interrogatories, should be considered in determining whether the motion for judgment on the pleadings should be granted.

In the case of *Friedman v. Washburn Co.*, *supra*, where defendant attached affidavits to its motion for judgment on the pleadings on the ground that plaintiff twice previously dismissed the instant action, the court held:

“The rule involved provides that a notice of dismissal operates as an adjudication upon the merits when filed by a plaintiff who has once dismissed in any court of the United States or of any state an action based on or including the same claim. We think the matter was improperly made a part of the record, a motion for judgment on the pleadings being no place to attach exhibits, stipulations or other evidential matters. *Snowwhite v. Tide Water*

Associated Oil Co., D.C., 40 F. Supp. 739; Cf. United States Trust Co. v. Sears, D.C., 29 F. Supp. 643; Palmer v. Palmer, D.C., 31 F. Supp. 861.”

If the lower court wished to consider such evidentiary matter, the Appellant should have been given an opportunity to present such additional matters as it desired which would affect the determination of the case. Some of the additional facts which Appellant had available, are pointed out in Appellant’s Motion for Re-hearing and include:

1. A photostatic copy of the original invoice wherein Lincoln-Mercury, a division of Ford Motor Company, at Los Angeles, California, sold to Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., a corporation of Pocatello, Idaho, the particular Mercury herein described under date of August 12, 1952.

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