1953

Securities Credit Corporation v. Marion Willey : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER FROM THE PLEADINGS THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT DISMISSING THE APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT.

A determination should be made at the outset as to what are pleadings for the purpose of a Motion For Judgment On the Pleadings, and particularly whether answers to Interrogatories are pleadings. Rule 7 (a) of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides :

“7(a). PLEADINGS. There shall be a complaint and an answer; and there shall be a reply to a counterclaim denominated as such; an answer to a cross-claim, if the answer contains a cross-claim; a third party complaint, if leave is given under Rule 14 to summon a person who was not an original party; and there shall be a third party answer, if a third party complaint is served. No other pleading shall be allowed, except that the court may order a reply to an answer or a third party answer.”

There is no mention that Interrogatories To Parties or the answers thereto are pleadings. It is the contention of the Respondent that Answers To Interrogatories are pleadings whenever the Answer to Interrogatories relates to an issue raised by the allegations of a complaint, answer or counterclaim. In support of the contention that answers to Interrogatories are pleadings, Respondent refers by analogy to the use, function and designation of a Bill of Particulars under the former Code of Civil Procedure. The Utah Code Annotated, 1943, 104-6-3, provides:

104-6-3. ENUMERATED. “The only pleadings allowed on the part of the plaintiff are:

- (1) The complaint.
- (2) The demurrer to the answer.
- (3) The reply.

And on the part of the defendant:

- (1) The demurrer to the complaint.
- (2) The answer.
- (3) The demurrer to the reply.”

No mention is made of a Bill of Particulars as being a pleading.

Utah Code Annotated, 1943, 104-13-3 provides:

104-13-3. "AN ACCOUNT, HOW PLEADED —BILL OF PARTICULARS. It is not necessary for a party to set forth in a pleading the items of an account therein alleged, but he must deliver to the adverse party, within ten days after a demand therefor in writing, a copy of the account, or be precluded from giving evidence thereof. The court, or a judge thereof, may order a further account when the one delivered is too general or is defective in any particular."

A Bill of Particulars was so held to be a pleading by the Supreme Court of Utah in the case of *Inland Engineering & Construction Company vs. Maryland Casualty Comapny, et al.*, 76 U 435, 290 P 367, decided July 21, 1930, wherein the Inland Engineering brought suit against a subcontractor and the surety for the subcontractor for an alleged failure to complete construction of a road as per contract. The Defendants demanded a bill of particulars, and the trial court ordered the Plaintiff to supply a bill of particulars, but none was in fact filed by the Plaintiff. Judgment in the lower court was for Plaintiff, but reversed and remanded by the Supreme Court because Plaintiff failed to file the bill of particulars.

The Supreme Court made these pertinent statements at page 447:

“The Statute relating to a Bill of Particulars is largely a rule of pleading relieving a pleader from the necessity of pleading each item unless required by the adverse party upon demand for a more particular and complete statement.”

At page 447 quoting from *Morrisette, Executor vs Wood*, 128 Ala. 505, 30 So. 630, 631:

“The word ‘account’ has no clearly-defined meaning.

“A bill of particulars has been held proper in actions based upon common counts . . . libel and slander; ejectment; trover, trespass . . .”

At page 451:

“Whenever a demand for bill of particulars relates to an issue raised by allegations of a complaint, an answer or a counterclaim, its proper classification must be a pleading, which should be filed as ordered by the court in this case, and the issues cannot be said to be made up or the case be at issue until such has been done.”

“How can a court rule upon the admissibility of evidence relating to matters set out in a bill of particulars unless a bill is filed and is before the court as a part of the pleadings limiting and defining the issues. The authorities seem to be well nigh unanimous that in a proper case, where bill of particulars is permitted, the bill limits or enlarges the issues of proof.”

Under our present Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in absence of the use of a bill of particulars, provision is

made for other types of discovery among them being, Interrogatories to Parties as provided by rule 33 Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The last paragraph of rule 33 provides in part as follows:

“Interrogatories may relate to any matters which can be inquired into under Rule 26 (b), and the answers may be used to the same extent as provided in Rule 26 (d) for the use of the deposition of a party. Interrogatories may be served after a deposition has been taken, and a deposition may be sought after interrogatories have been answered, but the court, on motion of the deponent or the party interrogated, may make such protective order as justice may require.”

Rule 26 (d) paragraphs 1 and 2 provide as follows:

“(1) Any deposition may be used by any party for the purpose of contradicting or impeaching the testimony of deponent as a witness.

(2) The deposition of a party or of any one who at the time of taking the deposition was an officer, director, or managing agent of a public or private corporation, partnership, or association which is a party may be used by an adverse party for any purpose.”

It clearly appears from the wording of rule 26 (d) that the Interrogatories to Parties may be used upon the hearing of a motion, and that the deposition of a party may be used by an adverse party for any purpose.

Since a bill of Particulars was not denominated by the Code of Civil Procedure as being a pleading but was by decision of this court declared to be a pleading when

relating to an issue raised by a complaint, answer or counterclaim, and since the use of interrogatories performs a function under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure comparable to the functions of a bill of particulars under the code of Civil Procedure, then even though the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure do not specifically denominate Interrogatories to Parties and ~~to~~^{the} answers thereto as being pleadings, yet the same should be so considered whenever the answers to interrogatories relate to an issue raised by a complaint, answer or counterclaim.

At the bottom of Page 7 of Appellant's brief, appellant contends that if answers to interrogatories are considered pleadings, then it would be impossible to make a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings because the pleadings would never be closed. Of course, technically, pleadings are not closed until the time of trial since it is possible to amend the various pleadings, but there being no motions to amend, pending, for all practical purposes and for purposes of Motion for Judgment On The Pleadings, the pleadings are closed. Likewise, though the Appellant might have interposed interrogatories to be answered by the Respondent, yet there having been no interrogatories pending, unanswered, at the time of Motion For Judgment On The Pleadings, the pleadings were closed.

The complaint of the Appellant substantially followed Form 16 of forms set out in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and alleged in paragraph 1 of the complaint (R. 1):

“1. Plaintiff is the owner and entitled to the possession of the following described personal property located in Bountiful, Utah: A 1952 Mercury four-door sedan, Motor No. 52 LA-27, 188-M.”

Paragraph 2 of the complaint alleges possession in the respondent, paragraph 3 alleges a demand for possession and refusal, and paragraph 4 alleges damages.

The action commenced by the Appellant was solely one of replevin. Replevin is defined in Corpus Juris Secundum, Volume 77, Page 10 as being an action at law for the recovery of specific personal chattels, wrongfully taken and detained or wrongfully detained. At page 13 of said Volume 77, it is stated that replevin is a possessory action in which the gist of the action is the plaintiffs right to immediate possession of the property and the defendant's wrongful taking or wrongful detention of the property. Again at page 29 of Volume 77, Corpus Juris Secundum, it is stated that since replevin is strictly a possessory action, it lies only in behalf of one entitled to immediate, exclusive and unqualified possession as against the defendant at the time of commencing the action, and if there is any preliminary act or condition precedent to be performed before the unqualified right of possession attaches, the action cannot be maintained.

The complaint alleges as a conclusion that the plaintiff is the owner and entitled to immediate possession of the automobile. In answer to interrogatory 1, appellant answers that it is a lien holder by virtue of a conditional sales contract which had been assigned to appellant by

Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., and that appellant had never taken possession of the car, thus contradicting, or at least qualifying, the allegations of the complaint. As a conditional seller, the appellant had no right of possession except upon default under the contract, but the appellant did not allege a contract or the default thereof, or any other allegations supporting the appellant's right to immediate possession. In answer to Interrogatory No. 10, the appellant states that Edw. S. Barrett and/or Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., owed appellant some conditional obligations but that only one debt of \$528.00 was liquidated. In answer to Interrogatory No. 11, appellant admits that no action was taken against Edw. S. Barrett and/or Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., within four months prior to December 13, 1952, which indicates that no action was taken after September 9, 1952, the date which appellant claims to have acquired an interest in the car. In its affidavit of Replevin (R. 19), appellant deposes upon information and belief that Respondent claimed to have purchased the car from Edward S. Barrett. The appellant could not have maintained replevin against Edward S. Barrett and/or Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., without alleging and proving a default under the contract. In the case of *Calhoun v. Universal Credit Co., et al.*, 106 Utah 166, 146 P2d 284, in which Calhoun purchased a car from a dealer; the dealer assigned the contract to Universal Credit Co., who repossessed the car without knowledge or consent of Calhoun after Calhoun was in default of payments

under the contract. There was evidence that Calhoun had been given extensions on previous instalments. Calhoun brought action for conversion, recovered judgment in the trial court. which was affirmed by the Supreme Court holding at Page 174:

“Thus until notice of intention to enforce the forfeiture provisions of a contract was given, and a reasonable time to comply with the demand for payment allowed, an indefinite extension of time would not expire, and defendants could not repossess the automobile.”

The Appellant contends (App. Br. 25) that it was entitled to bring replevin and cited *Morgan vs. Layton*, 60 Utah 280, 208 Pac. 505; however that case was one in which the complaint alleged the mortgage, the default thereof and the provisions which entitled the Plaintiff to possession, and the Supreme Court held further in that case:

“The possession acquired by the Plaintiff under judgment of the court, however, is not an absolute, unqualified possession. It is limited by the purposes for which it was obtained, viz., in order to foreclose the mortgage by advertisement and sale as provided by law. For that purpose, and that purpose only, the Plaintiff is entitled to possession of the property.”

The Appellant in answer to the interrogatories admitted that it had never had possession of the car, that no action has been commenced against Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., and/or Edward S. Barrett, that no

payments had been made upon the liquidated debt and no definite amount had been estimated on the conditional debts, and that there were no liquidated debts owing from Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., and/or Edward S. Barrett except a debt of \$528.00 arising on July 17, 1953, all of which clearly indicates that no procedure declaring forfeiture under the conditional sales contract had been taken; and that Appellant could not have been the "owner and entitled to possession" of the car.

The Idaho Code 49-401 (e) entitled "Definitions" provides:

49 Idaho Code 401 "Definitions"

"(e) Owner—A person who holds the legal title to vehicle or in the event vehicle is the subject of an agreement for the conditional sale or lease thereof with the right of purchase upon performance of the condition stated in agreement with an immediate right of possession vested in the conditional vendee or lessee or in the event a mortgagor of vehicle is entitled to possession, then such conditional vendee or lessee or mortgagor shall be deemed the owner for purposes of this chapter."

Idaho Code 49-416 further provides:

"In the event of the transfer of ownership of a motor vehicle by operation of law as upon inheritance or repossession is had upon default in performance of the terms of a conditional sales contract the department of law enforcement may upon the surrender of the prior certificate of title, or when that is not possible,

upon presentation of satisfactory proof to the department of ownership and right to possession of such motor vehicle and presentation of an application for a certificate of title, issue to the applicant a certificate of title thereto. Only an affidavit by the person or agent of the person to whom possession of the motor vehicle so passed, setting forth facts entitling him to such possession and ownership, together with a copy of the journal entry, court order or instrument upon which such claim of possession and ownership is founded, shall be considered satisfactory proof of ownership and right of possession. If the applicant cannot produce such proof of ownership he may apply directly to the department of law enforcement and submit such evidence as he may have and the department of law enforcement may thereupon, if it finds the evidence sufficient, issue a certificate of title to the applicant."

The Appellant contends that it was entitled to produce facts as set forth on Page 14 of its brief, assuming that the court was proceeding under the Summary Judgment procedure. However, the court did not consider matters outside of the pleadings and the Summary Judgment procedure was not applicable. Nevertheless, even though the facts which appellant sets forth on page 14 of its brief were admitted, these facts taken with the answers to interrogatories would show nothing more than a lienholder's interest in the appellant and would not avail the appellant under its allegations in replevin which appears to be a mistaken remedy in absence of allegations in the complaint in addition to the conclusion

that plaintiff is "owner and entitled to possession" of the car. The appellant made no attempt to amend the complaint.

POINT II

WHETHER FROM THE PLEADINGS THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT UPON THE THE COUNTERCLAIM OF THE RESPONDENT.

The Respondent's counterclaim, (supra page 7) seeks equitable relief by way of quieting title to the car in the Respondent as against the appellant. The success of the counterclaim depends upon the proof of a purchase or acquisition by the Respondent under circumstance which would constitute the claim of the Respondent superior to and prior in right to that of the appellant. The trial court could properly find such proof in the pleadings from the following pleadings:

(a) The Affidavit of Replevin (R. 19) of the appellant alleges under oath, that "affiant is informed and believes and therefore alleges, that the defendant claims to have purchased the property from one Edward S. Barrett but Affiant further alleges that said Edward S. Barrett does not have title nor right to possession to said automobile."

From this affidavit Appellant admits the existence of the claim of Respondent to have purchased the car from Edward S. Barrett; the allegation that Edward S. Barrett "does not have title nor right to possession to

said automobile" is not an allegation that Edward S. Barrett did not have title and right to possession at the time of sale and transfer of possession to Respondent.

(b) By the answer to Interrogatory No. 1, Appellant answers that it is a lienholder under a conditional Sales contract and that Appellant had never taken possession of the automobile.

(c) Answering interrogatories Numbers 3, 4, 5, and 6, the appellant answers that during the past two years Appellant had been financing motor vehicles, flooring automobiles and supplying other types of financing for Edward S. Barrett and Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc.

(d) Respondent by interrogatory No. 7 requested the Appellant to list the date, amounts advanced, and the description of any automobiles financed by the Appellant for Edward S. Barrett and/or Motor Center of Pocatello, Inc., during the past two years. The Appellant answered:

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